Impact of frailty in older people on health care demand: simulation modelling of population dynamics to inform service planning

Bronagh Walsh,^{1*} Carole Fogg,¹ Tracey England,¹ Sally Brailsford,² Paul Roderick,³ Scott Harris,³ Simon Fraser,³ Andrew Clegg,⁴ Simon de Lusignan,⁵ Shihua Zhu,³ Francesca Lambert,¹ Abigail Barkham,⁶ Harnish Patel⁷ and Vivienne Windle⁸

Published October 2024 DOI: 10.3310/LKJF3976

Plain language summary

Impact of frailty in older people on health care demand: simulation modelling of population dynamics to inform service planning

Health and Social Care Delivery Research 2024; Vol. 12: No. 44

DOI: 10.3310/LKJF3976

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

¹School of Health Sciences, University of Southampton, Southampton, UK

²Southampton Business School, University of Southampton, Southampton, UK

³School of Primary Care, Population Science and Medical Education, Faculty of Medicine, University of Southampton, Southampton, UK

⁴Academic Unit of Elderly Care and Rehabilitation, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK

⁵Nuffield Department of Primary Care Health Sciences, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

⁶Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust, Winchester, UK

⁷University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust, Southampton General Hospital, Southampton, UK

⁸Independent PPI Representative

^{*}Corresponding author B.M.Walsh@soton.ac.uk

Plain language summary

Why was this research needed?

More people are living longer with long-term medical conditions or disabilities. They are more likely to be admitted to hospital and need health care. People with these vulnerabilities are living with 'frailty', which can be mild, moderate or severe. Our research is aimed to produce information on how common frailty is, how it changes over time, what can influence it getting worse, and how it will impact our future population.

What did we do?

We analysed two large data sets from England and Wales (2006–17) to find out the numbers of people aged 50 + living with frailty, their characteristics (e.g. age, sex, living in deprived areas) and how these influenced frailty occurring and worsening. We explored how often they used general practitioner/hospital services and how much that cost. This information was used in a computer model to predict what would happen in the future.

What did we find?

The proportion of people with frailty increased from 26.5% in 2006 to 38.9% in 2017, including large increases in people with mild and moderate frailty. Older age, female sex, Asian ethnicity, and living in more deprived or urban areas, all increased the risk of someone becoming frail, and of their frailty worsening. The large numbers of people with mild and moderate frailty led to the highest costs overall. The computer model predicted that the proportion of people with frailty will increase by another 7.1% between 2017 (41.5%) and 2027 (48.7%), and associated costs will rise by £5.8 billion over an 11-year period.

What does this mean?

We have estimated how the number of people with frailty and their use of services will continue to rise in the future. Taking action to reduce people's risk of becoming frail, particularly before age 65, and slowing frailty progression can reduce the need for services. We will report this information to people who plan health care so they can provide more effective care for people with frailty.

Health and Social Care Delivery Research

ISSN 2755-0079 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Health and Social Care Delivery Research (HSDR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, INAHTA, Ulrichsweb™ (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), NCBI Bookshelf, Scopus and MEDLINE.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

This journal was previously published as *Health Services and Delivery Research* (Volumes 1–9); ISSN 2050-4349 (print), ISSN 2050-4357 (online)

The full HSDR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr.

Criteria for inclusion in the Health and Social Care Delivery Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Health and Social Care Delivery Research* (HSDR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HSDR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

HSDR programme

The HSDR programme funds research to produce evidence to impact on the quality, accessibility and organisation of health and social care services. This includes evaluations of how the NHS and social care might improve delivery of services.

For more information about the HSDR programme please visit the website at https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/health-and-social-care-delivery-research.htm

This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HSDR programme or one of its preceding programmes as award number 16/116/43. The contractual start date was in March 2019. The draft manuscript began editorial review in March 2023 and was accepted for publication in March 2024. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HSDR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2024 Walsh *et al.* This work was produced by Walsh *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).